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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 25512                                                                                                               Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512

CATHY M. ZEITLER FUNA, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                     Applicant

                                                   v. 

TANANA CHIEFS CONFERENCE, INC,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

ALASKA NATIONAL INS. CO. - A,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                     Defendants.
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          DECISION AND ORDER

        AWCB Case Nos.  199729612, 

                                       199526606
        AWCB Decision No.  01-0195

         Filed with AWCB Fairbanks, Alaska

         on October 09, 2001


We heard Employee’s claim for workers’ compensation benefits at Fairbanks, Alaska on May 17, 2001.  Employee represented herself; attorney Rick Wagg represented the defendant. The record was held open to obtain supplemental documentation concerning her wage history. We closed the record when we next met on October 1, 2001 after wage documents were presented and considered.


ISSUES
1. Whether Employee is entitled to payment of additional permanent partial impairment (PPI) benefits.

2. Whether Employee is entitled to payment of temporary total disability (TTD) benefits.

3. Whether Employee is entitled to a compensation rate increase.

4. Whether Employee is entitled to payment of medical costs.
5. Whether Employee is entitled to payment of travel costs.
6. Whether Employee is entitled to payment of penalties and interest.

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE
Employee was first injured while working for the employer in Manley Hot Springs, Alaska on November 16, 1995. She testified she was injured a second time while working for the employer on September 23, 1997.  She was given permanent partial impairment (PPI) ratings as a result of these injuries at rates as high as 9% impairment for her right ankle and 3% impairment on her right knee. Employee has been denied authorization for treatment of injuries to other parts of her body including her right hip, lower back, and neck injuries. Employee claims she has no history of ankle, neck, back, or hip injury or pain prior to her injury dates.

Employee was born in Dearborn, Michigan on November 6, 1959. Since May 13, 1993, Employee has lived in Manley Hot Springs, Alaska. She is married, owns her own home, and lives a subsistence lifestyle that includes keeping sled dogs. Her dog team is a working team, hauling water, wood, and petroleum and has been used for search and rescue. Her sled dog team has been used in the scope of her work during severe weather and extreme cold temperatures when regular vehicles do not run. She said her dog team has been instrumental in saving at least three lives. 

Employee received a certificate in Heating Ventilation and air‑conditioning from Denver Institute of Technology in 1989. She has obtained medical training and certification at Minto, Alaska and at Chief Andrew Isaac Medical Center in Fairbanks, Alaska. On December 5, 1995, Employee completed a course to become a certified emergency medical technician (EMT). In March of 1996 and January of 1997, Employee attended Sessions 1 and 2 of Health Aide Training at the Alaska Native Medical Center in Anchorage, Alaska and received certification in both. In December of 1997 Employee completed Session 3 training in Fairbanks and received certification. Employee has 40 credits at the University of Alaska for an associate degree in the Community Health Program, which requires 60 credit hours of study to complete the program.

On November 16, 1995, Employee responded to an emergency call at approximately 1:00 am in Manley Hot Springs, Alaska. With help from the other health aide from Manley Hot Springs, physicians assistant Heather Koponen, they were able to stabilize the patient and move him to the clinic in the early hours of the morning. When preparing the patient for transportation to Fairbanks by medical evacuation, Employee was designated to travel to Fairbanks with the patient. Employee left the clinic to prepare for the flight and sat down on her snow‑machine, and started it. The throttle stuck wide open and Employee accelerated very quickly, went over a gravel burm, and slammed into a tree. Employee flew through the windshield, smashed into a tree, and landed on some bushes. Her right boot was thrown from her foot by the impact.

       Employee crawled back inside the clinic and received aide from Heather Kopenen. Kopenen dressed her wounds and put a splint on her right leg. After she conferred with doctors at Chief Andrew Isaac Medical Center in Fairbanks, Kopenen arranged a medical evacuation for Employee. After being transported to Fairbanks Memorial Hospital (FMH), Employee received stitches, x‑rays, and crutches by the emergency room doctor and was told to follow up with her personal physician Mary Wing, M.D.


            Four Days later, Employee woke up with severe stomach pains. She saw Kopenen, who again consulted with doctors from Chief Andrew Isaac Medical Center. Employee was sent back to FMH for examination. At FMH Employee received stomach x‑rays to rule out internal injury. It was concluded that she suffered bruising and muscle strain from the accident. While at FMH she also underwent additional x‑rays on her right leg.

            The x‑rays were forwarded to Dr. Wing, who contacted her and said Employee needed to see a specialist and recommended Cary Keller, M.D. Accordingly, Employee made an appointment with Dr. Keller for January 18,1996. Dr. Keller ordered an MRI then scheduled a follow up visit. After examination and review of the MRI, Dr. Keller diagnosed Employee with a torn Achilles tendon, a sprained ankle, Osteo Chondritis Dessicans of the right ankle and a torn Anterior Cruciate Ligament of the right knee. Dr. Keller indicated that surgery would be necessary for her ankle. Dr. Keller stated that it could require two separate surgeries; one for the torn Achilles tendon and one for the Osteo Chondritis Dessicans. Dr. Keller also said that he would be unable to perform surgery until her ankle got stronger. At that time no treatment was ordered for the knee injury or the neck injury. 

            Her stomach pains got better and her neck pain was lessening when she stopped using crutches for her leg. The knee pain and weakness had minor improvement. Employee followed up with Dr. Wing by telephone consultation and with Heather Kopenen daily. On June 3,1997 Employee saw Dr. Keller and physicians’ assistant Mary Ann McMillian and was given an injection of steroids in her ankle. On June 18,1997, Employee had another MRI at FMH and surgery was scheduled for July 21, 1997. Employee had pre‑operative appointments with Dr. Keller on July 2, 1997 and July 15,1997. At that time the insurer authorized the surgery and considered her injuries work related. Because of illness, Dr. Wing sent her to Elron Walker, M.D., for a pre​operative physical on July 18, 1997. On July 21, 1997 Dr. Keller performed arthroscopy surgery on her right ankle.

            On July 22, 1997 Employee had a follow-up appointment with Dr. Keller. Employee then  also met with Mary Fedorff from Northern Rehabilitation, which was hired to help manage the case for the insurer. Employee had daily physical therapy from July 23,1997 through July 29, 1997. Employee had an additional physical therapy appointment on August 5, 1997, but had to cancel the appointment. Her only transportation at the time to Fairbanks was the daily Mail plane, which was cancelled due to bad weather. Employee was able to make up that appointment the next day. Employee had a follow‑up appointment with Dr. Keller for September 2, 1997. Employee again was not able to attend that appointment, due to bad weather and the cancellation of the mail plane. Employee attempted to make another appointment but no appointment opening was available until after Thanksgiving. Jane Cole with Northern Rehabilitation also tried unsuccessfully to get her an earlier appointment.  Employee finally was able to see Dr. Keller again on December 17,1997. Meanwhile, on September 15, 1997, her TTD benefits were terminated because of her failure to see her doctor and keep her appointments. 

Meanwhile, Employee testified, in the fall 1997 she suffered a second on-the-job injury. On September 23, 1997 she received an emergency call. She was still on medical leave recovering from the earlier job related surgery and was still using crutches. No one else was available to respond to the emergency and the patient was in critical condition, so Employee responded. While providing medical care to the patient, Employee needed to haul heavy equipment from the clinic to the patient's home. In the course of the move, Employee fell down the stairs at the patient’s home. Employee said she twisted her right ankle and knee, then slammed her right hip and lower back into the stairway. She also said she wrenched her neck. Employee consulted with her supervisor, physicians’ assistant Larry Fisher, about the patient, and also told him about her fall. She testified she also told Jane Cole of Northern Rehabilitation about the fall.
            On December 16, 1997, at 7:00 PM, Employee met with Carol Jacobson from Northern Rehabilitation and discussed her ankle condition and the subjects she planned to discuss at her appointment with Dr. Keller the next day. Employee said she told Carol Jacobson about her fall on September 23, 1997 and told her that she was still having pain and told her of the problems in her right hip, lower back and neck. Carol Jacobson said she would speak to Dr. Keller the next day about the fall and her back, neck, and hip pain and would mention that Employee had never had any treatment on her neck after the original accident of November 1995. Jacobson told her she would be in contact with her after the appointment. However, Employee testified she never saw or spoke with Carol Jacobson again. 

            On December 17, 1997 Employee had an appointment with Dr. Keller, during which she underwent a physical capacities evaluation, as requested by the insurer. Employee was also prescribed oral steroids and given a shot of steroids and anti inflammatory medication in her ankle. Employee said Dr. Keller also requested approval of tests and treatment for her neck, hip, and back pain. Dr. Keller also found Employee’s condition was medically stable as to her ankle. He diagnosed her with Osteochondritis Dessicans, degenerative joint disease, and S/P Ankle Arthrotomy. Dr. Keller determined Employee had a final PPI rating for the right ankle of nine percent (9%) of whole person.

 The adjuster denied Dr. Keller’s requests for authorization of neck, hip or back tests and on December 18, 1997 Employee consulted with the Workers' Compensation Division office in Fairbanks and said she was advised to file another Workers’ Compensation Claim for the September 23, 1997 fall with Employer. Employee said that on that same day she met with Employer representative, Edith Hilderbrant, about filing another claim and was asked not to do so. Instead, Hildabrant told her that Employer would add the fall on to the first injury claim because it was related to her leg being weak after surgery. In any case, Employee filed the second Workers’ Compensation Claim, but it has been controverted and the insurer has denied authorization for associated medical tests or treatment.
            On December 19, 1997 Employee had an allergic reaction to the oral steroids, including chest pain, shortness of breath, elevated pulse over 120 beats per minute and elevated respirations. Her instructors and classmates at the Tanana Chiefs Conference Community Health Aide training Center treated her with oxygen and consulted with a pharmacist in the same building. Employee said the problem with chest pain and shortness of breath continued thereafter for many months.

 
On March 19, 1998 Employee met with Tom Clark of Corvel Corporation, her re​employment specialist in Fairbanks. On March 20, 1998, Employee saw Thad Stanford, M.D., for an employer-sponsored independent medical evaluation (EIME) regarding her injuries.  

            Employee said she felt that Dr. Stanford was rude and abrupt.  Employee felt he did not listen to her and she was upset that he would not look at the most recent x‑rays that Employee had brought with her. Employee testified she had a 10:00 am appointment with Dr. Stanford at Providence Hospital in Anchorage and was back at Anchorage International Airport at 11:05 am, rescheduling her flight back to Fairbanks. 

            In May of 1998, Employee was put on three month's leave without pay by Employer.  Employee had not officially worked or received pay from Employer since September 1997, except for a period of three weeks in December of 1997 when she was participating in Session III training. 

            On May 12, 1998 a pre‑hearing conference was held and a second independent medical evaluation (SIME) with Edward Voke, M.D., was scheduled in Anchorage.  On July 22,1998, Employee traveled to Anchorage for her appointment. Unfortunately, Dr. Voke did not have her appointment on his schedule. Nevertheless, because Employee had traveled so far, he agreed to see her. He did not have any medical history at the time of the examination and had not reviewed her medical records at that time. Dr. Voke also had no information about the September 23, 1997 injury, although it was discussed at the May 12, 1998 Prehearing Conference. 
            In September 1998, Employer informed Employee that she was no longer on leave status, and on November 2,1998 Employee received a letter of termination. The notice statement said, that she "would no longer be able to perform the duties required of a Community Health Aide because of her injuries." 

At hearing on September 14, 2000, the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board directed that Employee attend a second SIME and that the parties would use that physician's report to settle this matter. On November 7, 2000 Employee had the second SIME with Douglas Smith, M.D. She said Dr. Smith spent only 15 minutes with her, then ordered several X‑rays. Employee said she was very disappointed that Dr. Smith spent so little time with her and she told the X‑ray technician and Dr. Smith's assistant her feelings. On February 8, 2001 Dr. Smith submitted his report to the Board.  This report is 14 pages and the parties agree is very extensive. Employee claims there are several errors and Dr. Smith inappropriately used only medical reports and radiology reports to make his judgement. She said Dr. Smith did not have access to other evidence that supports her claim. 

In his report, Dr. Smith states, in part, as follows:

SECTION FOUR: DIAGNOSTIC IMPRESSION:
1. Chronic cervical strain.

2. Chronic low back pain, onset approximately 12/16/97.

3, Chronic right hip pain (documented 3/98), possibly trochanteric bursitis or myositis.

4. Right knee pain:


a. 
 Contusion, right knee/tibia, 11/16/95.


b.
 Chondromalacia patella (MRI 1/18/96 and exams including 11/7/00).


c.   
Probably partial ACL tear (exams 1/18/96 and 11/7/00).


d.   
Prepatellar bursitis (fall 1995, 1996; and exam 11/7/00).

5. Chronic right ankle pain:


a.   Osteochondritis desiccans (probably prior to 1995).


b.   Possible contusion or sprain/strain, right ankle (11/16/95).

     

c. Osteochondritis, instability, synovitis, and degenerative joint disease, right ankle (surgery 7/21/97).

SECTION FIVE: ANSWERS TO THE QUESTIONS:
Cathy Gaal, your letter of 11/1/00 posed a series of seven questions, I will answer as best I can as follows.

QUESTION #1: What are your diagnoses of Ms. Zeitler‑Funa's right, ankle, knee, hip, lower back and neck conditions?

ANSWER: The diagnoses are noted immediately above.

QUESTION #2: To a reasonable degree of medical probability, was either the 11‑16‑95 or the 9‑23‑97 injury a substantial factor in bringing about the conditions you have diagnosed?

ANSWER: I guess they should each be approached separately.

The diagnosis #1 of chronic cervical strain, in my opinion, can be related at least back to the 11/16/95 snow machine accident, Emergency room notes contemporary to that accident indicated stiffness in the neck and a diagnosis of a neck strain.

She again complained of upper back and neck problem in the timeframe of 12/16/97 and 3/20/98 following the alleged 9/23/97 fall down the stairs.

This would lead me to believe that it was probable that the neck chronic sprain/strain/pain, etc. can be related to either one or both of the industrial exposures.

The second diagnosis of chronic law back pain, in my opinion, is not related in a probable way to either of the industrial exposures based on the information in the contemporary medical records.

The first mention I found of a low back problem was December of 1997.

In March of 1998, at an IME the worker apparently related to the doctor that she felt it was from limping.

The 9/23/97 accident report was not retrospectively filled out and filed until May of 1998. This, to me, reduces the credibility of that report.

All of this would lead me to believe that I cannot say with reasonable degree of probability that the low back condition is related to either of the industrial exposures.

The next condition was the right hip pain, which might be a trochanteric bursitis or myositis. This was somehow interrelated often with the back pain but was not really reported that I could find until March of 1998, a considerable time after the alleged exposure in 1997.
There has failed to be objective evidence of pathology around the hip other than tenderness. Her range of motion measurements have been variable from examiner to examiner.

Thus, I do not feel that it has been demonstrated with a degree of probability that she has a hip condition related to either industrial exposure.

The next anatomic area under consideration is the right knee. It would seem that the 11/16/95 industrial exposure would be considered a substantial factor related to the contusion and possible anterior cruciate ligament tear diagnoses.

It seems that the chondromalacia patella probably antedated the industrial exposure. The prepatellar bursitis was probably, if present, related to a non‑industrial fall in May of 1996.

In summary then, I feel a portion of her current knee problems, including the cruciate deficiency, could be related to the industrial exposure of 11/16/95.

The final anatomic area under consideration is the ankle. I feel that it is probable that there is a portion of her ankle problems, which are related to the industrial exposure, and the exposure that would be a substantial factor was the 11/95 injury.

QUESTION #3: Did either of the 11‑16‑95 or the 9‑23‑97 injuries aggravate, accelerate, or combine with a pre‑existing condition to produce the need for medical treatment or the disability?

ANSWER: It would seem likely that the osteochondritis desiccans situation of the ankle preceded the industrial exposure and the sprain/strain/contusion either combined or aggravated that condition.

Relative to the knee, it would seem that there was likely a chondromalacia patella situation before the industrial exposure but the anterior cruciate ligament problem could have been caused by the mechanism of the snow machine accident in 11/95. Thus, there would be a pre‑existing condition combining with a new injury.

I am unaware of pre‑existing problem in either the cervical area, which may be industrially related, or the low back and hip which I feet is not industrially related.

Subquestion a. If so, did the aggravation, acceleration or combining with the preexisting condition product a temporary or permanent change in the pre‑existing condition?

ANSWER: It would be my opinion that there was probably some degree of permanency in the change in the cervical area, in the knee area, and in the ankle area. . . . 

QUESTION #4: What specific additional treatment if any is indicated / recommended?

ANSWER: I am not aware of any specific treatment in any of those areas that would predictably improve her level of function.

In general, as in many chronic musculoskeletal problems, some degree of aerobic conditioning as well as maintenance, of flexibility and strength would be recommended. This could be done on a home program.

QUESTION #5: Do you recommend any further diagnostic studies or tests at this time in connection with the 1‑16‑95 and 9‑23‑97 industrial injuries?

ANSWER: No.

QUESTION #6: Based upon the following Alaska Workers' Compensation Act definition, is Ms. Zeitler‑Funa medically stable? On what date was medical stability reached, or on what date do you predict medical stability? Medical stability means:

[T]he date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measurable improvement for a period of 45 days; this presumption may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence.

ANSWER: If I had to pick a date for medical stability considering the three conditions which could be considered related to industrial exposure, namely the neck, knee, and ankle, I would pick December 1997. At that time, she was five months after the surgery on her ankle.

She previously, in my opinion, would have been stable from the knee injury possibly as early as April 15, 1996, by the no improvement for 45 days rule.

Her stability for the neck injury could also be in December of 1997 at which time she was three months after her alleged fall and injury to the neck.

QUESTION #7: If Ms. Zeitler‑Funa is medically stable, perform a permanent partial impairment rating of her right ankle right knee, right hip, lower back and neck conditions, using the American Medical Association guides to the evaluation of Permanent Impairment, (4th Ed.) (Guides), except that an impairment may not be rounded to the next five percent. . . .
ANSWER: I will give my estimate of impairment of the various anatomic areas. For completeness, I will mention all areas that you requested, although as I previously stated, I do not feel that the low back and hip conditions are probably related to industrial exposure.

To start at the top, I feet her neck impairment is 0 percent whole person. I feel that she falls into Cervicothoracic Category I: Complaints or Symptoms. The description of this is found on page 103 of the Fourth Edition of the Guides.

Regarding her low back impairment, if this were to be considered industrially related, I feel that she would fall into Lumbosacral Category I which is a 0 percent whole person impairment. The description of this is found on page 102 of the Fourth Edition of the Guides.

Relative to the right hip impairment, if she were to be rated, I feel this is 0 percent, She had some range of motion restriction when I did my measurements; however, she has been inconsistent in terms of the measurements, sometimes having completely normal measurements by other examiners after the time of the alleged hip injury.

Radiographically, she does not demonstrate a ratable impairment in the hip either. Thus, the ultimate impairment rating for the right hip area, in my opinion, is 0 percent.

The next area under consideration is the right knee, I feel the appropriate impairment rating comes from page 95, table 64, This table is titled "Impairment Estimates for Certain Lower Extremity Impairments". The particular category appropriate in this case is cruciate or collateral ligament laxity. I feel she has mild laxity. This translates into a 3 percent whole person impairment or a 7 percent lower extremity impairment,

The final consideration is her right ankle impairment. I feet the appropriate way for determining this is to consult table 62 on page 83. This uses x‑ray weight bearing films to determine the degree of impairment. Her ankle mortis measures 2 mm on my film. This constitutes a 6 percent whole person impairment or a 15 percent lower extremity impairment,

Her final impairment rating then would be appropriately combining the ankle impairment of 6 percent whole person and the knee impairment of 3 percent whole person resulting in a 9 percent whole person impairment if I am doing the calculations correctly.

I am not aware of pre‑existing impairment, which can be accurately determined to subtract from the current impairment rating and consequently, will not subtract preexisting impairment from her current impairment in this case.


As mentioned, Employee contends she is entitled to additional TTD and PPI, an increase in her compensation rate, coverage of additional parts of her body, as well as transportation costs, interest and penalties. Employer insists that it has paid all benefits owed.


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I. Presumption of Compensability.


The Alaska Supreme Court has long recognized that employment which causes injury or which sufficiently aggravates, accelerates, or combines with a pre-existing condition to cause disability entitles an employee to compensation and benefits.  Thornton v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board, 411 P.2d 209, 210 (Alaska 1966).  Liability may be imposed on an employer, however, only if the employment injury aggravated, accelerated, or combined with the pre-existing condition and the aggravation, acceleration, or combination was a "substantial factor" contributing to the ultimate disability.  United Asphalt Paving v. Smith, 660 P.2d 445, 447 (Alaska 1983).


A "substantial factor" is found where it is "shown both that the [disability] would not have happened 'but for' the [employment] and that the [employment] was so important in bringing about the [disability] that reasonable men would regard it as a cause and attach responsibility to it."  State v. Abbott, 498 P.2d 712, 717 (Alaska 1972); Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 757 P.2d 528 (Alaska 1987).


In analyzing a case involving a pre-existing condition, the Court held that an aggravation or acceleration must be presumed under AS 23.30.120.  Burgess Construction Company v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 315 (Alaska 1981).  AS 23.30.120(a) provides, in part, "In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter."  Continuing disability and need for medical benefits must also be presumed.  Olson v. AIC/Martin J.V., 818 P.2d 669, 672 (Alaska 1991); Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 665 (Alaska 1991).


Nevertheless, before the presumption attaches Employee must establish a preliminary link between the disability and the employment.  "[I]n claims 'based on highly technical medical considerations' medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection."  Id. at 316.  "Two factors determine whether expert medical evidence is necessary in a given case: the probative value of the available lay evidence and the complexity of the medical facts involved."  Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).  Once Employee makes a prima facie case of work-relatedness the presumption of compensability attaches and shifts the burden of production to the employer.  Id. at 869.


To overcome the presumption of compensability, the employer must present substantial evidence the disability is not work-related.  Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).  The Court "has consistently defined 'substantial evidence' as 'such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion'" Miller, 577 P.2d at 1046 (quoting Thornton, 411 P.2d at 209, 210).  In Fireman's Fund American Insurance Cos. v. Gomes, 544 P.2d 1013, 1016 (Alaska 1976), the Court explained two possible ways to overcome the presumption: 1) producing affirmative evidence the disability and need for medical treatment was not work-related or 2) eliminating all reasonable possibilities the disability and need for medical treatment was work-related. "For the purposes of overcoming the presumption of compensability medical testimony cannot constitute substantial evidence if it simply points to other possible causes of an employee's injury or disability, without ruling out work related causes." Tolbert v. Alascom, Inc., 973 P.2d 603 (Alaska 1999).


The same standards used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link apply to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to overcome the presumption.  Veco, 693 P.2d at 871.  "Since the presumption shifts only the burden of production and not the burden of persuasion, the evidence tending to rebut the presumption should be examined by itself."  Id. at 869.


If the employer produces substantial evidence that the disability was not work-related, the presumption drops out, and Employee must prove all the elements of his claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  Id. at 870.  "Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, he must induce a belief in the minds of [the triers of fact] that the asserted facts are probably true."  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).

            In order to establish the presumption of her entitlement to continuing disability benefits in this case, Employee relies on her testimony that each condition she is facing is substantially caused by her work-related accidents.  Although we note a scarcity of medical evidence relating Employee’s current conditions involving her upper back, shoulder, lower back and hip,   to her work injury, we find there is sufficient evidence to establish the presumption of compensability in this case. The parties agree and we also find Employee has attached the presumption of compensability as to the knee and ankle conditions.

            Therefore, we find the employer must submit substantial evidence to rebut the presumption.  Based on medical reports of Drs. Voke and Stanford, who concluded Employee’s upper back, lower back and hip conditions were not work related, we find Employer has presented substantial evidence to overcome the presumption as to.  Therefore, we find Employee must prove her claim as to these conditions by a preponderance of the evidence. Employer does not dispute the compensability of the knee and ankle conditions.

Based on our review of the entire medical record, especially the medical report of Dr. Smith, we find Employee has proven the work relatedness and compensability of her knee and ankle conditions. Based on this same evidence, we find Employee cannot prove the work relatedness of her lower back and hip conditions. As to her upper back, Dr. Smith stated “it was probable” that her condition “can be related to either one or both of the industrial exposures. Based on this opinion, together with Employee’s testimony, we find Employee’s cervical condition and need for treatment is compensable..

II. Temporary Total Disability Benefits December 17, 1997 and Continuing

AS 23.30.185. provides for payment of Compensation For Temporary Total Disability as follows.

In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability. Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

AS 23.30.395 defines medical stability as follows:

(21) "medical stability" means the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measurable improvement for a period of 45 days; this presumption may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence;

According to Dr. Smith, Employee reached medical stability as to her right knee, ankle and upper back condition by December 1997.  Dr. Keller found the knee and ankle stable by December 17, 1997.  Based on these medical opinions, we find she is not entitled to TTD benefits after this date.  We have already concluded her low back and hip conditions are not compensable. Therefore, we find she is not due TTD benefits for these conditions.

 III.   Permanent Partial Impairment
At the time of the employee’s injuries, AS 23.30.190 read, in part, 

(a) In case of impairment partial in character but permanent in quality, and not resulting in permanent total disability, the compensation is $135,000 multiplied by the employee's percentage of permanent impairment of the whole person. The percentage of permanent impairment of the whole person is the percentage of impairment to the particular body part, system, or function converted to the percentage of impairment to the whole person as provided under (b) of this section. The compensation is payable in a single lump sum, except as otherwise provided in AS 23.30.041, but the compensation may not be discounted for any present value considerations. 

(b) All determinations of the existence and degree of permanent impairment shall be made strictly and solely under the whole person determination as set out in the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, except that an impairment rating may not be rounded to the next five percent. The board shall adopt a supplementary recognized schedule for injuries that cannot be rated by use of the American Medical Association Guides. 

(c) The impairment rating determined under (a) of this section shall be reduced by a permanent impairment that existed before the compensable injury. If the combination of a prior impairment rating and a rating under (a) of this section would result in the employee being considered permanently totally disabled, the prior rating does not negate a finding of permanent total disability.
Employee claims she should receive compensation based on a permanent partial impairment rating of 9% on her right ankle and 3% of her right knee. Dr. Keller determined that as a result of her Osteochondritis Dessicans degenerative joint disease, and S/P Ankle Arthrotomy that Employee was impaired with regards to her ankle. Dr. Stanford and Dr. Voke both assessed an impairment rating at 3%. Dr. Smith assessed the impairment of her ankle at 6%.  

The central difference between the evaluations appears to be that Dr. Keller determined Employee has an arthritis impairment. Dr. Stanford believed that the osteochrondritis dessicans and arthritis were pre‑existing conditions and were not a result of impairment based on the November 16, 1995 injury. Also Dr. Stanford indicated he thought Employee had  sprained her ankle during the November 16, 1995 accident and did not take into account that Employee was diagnosed with a torn Achilles tendon. Dr. Smith gave her an impairment rating of 6% on her ankle but he did not take into consideration arthritis pain. Dr. Smith also gave her an impairment rating of 3% on her right knee. Dr. Smith is the only doctor who gave her impairment rating for her knee. Dr. Voke also diagnosed her with Chrondra malaysa of the right knee. However, Dr. Voke did not consider knee pain in his rating. 

Employer has accepted and paid based on a 3% rating. Employer disputes the accuracy of Dr. Smith’s 6% rating. Nevertheless, after reviewing the medical record, we find the preponderance of evidence supports Dr. Smith’s 6% impairment and direct Employer to pay PPI benefits based on this rating, offset by PPI benefits already paid.

IV. Medical Costs
AS 23.30.095 provides in relevant part as follows: 

Medical treatments, services, and examinations. 

(a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee. . . .

(c) When a claim is made for a course of treatment requiring continuing and multiple treatments of a similar nature, in addition to the notice, the physician or health care provider shall furnish a written treatment plan if the course of treatment will require more frequent outpatient visits than the standard treatment frequency for the nature and degree of the injury and the type of treatments. The board shall, however, excuse the failure to furnish notice within 14 days when it finds it to be in the interest of justice to do so, and it may, upon application by a party in interest, make an award for the reasonable value of the medical or surgical treatment so obtained by the employee.

8 AAC 45.082 provides for medical treatment in relevant part as follows:

(a) The employer's obligation to furnish medical treatment under AS 23.30.095 extends only to medical and dental services furnished by providers, unless otherwise ordered by the board after a hearing or consented to by the employer. The board will not order the employer to pay expenses incurred by an employee without the approval required by this subsection.

(b) In this section "provider'' means any person or facility as defined in AS 47.087.140 and licensed under AS 08 to furnish medical or dental services, and includes an out‑of‑state person or facility that meets the requirements of this section and is otherwise qualified to be licensed under AS 08. . . .

           (f) If an injury occurs on or after July 1, 1988, and requires continuing and multiple treatments of a similar nature, the standards for payment for frequency of outpatient treatment for the injury will be as follows. Except as provided in (h) [allowing the employee or employer to voluntarily pay at rates exceeding the standards] of this section, payment for a course of treatment for the injury may not exceed more than three treatments per week for the first month, two treatments per week for the second and third months, one treatment per week for the fourth and fifth months, and one treatment per month for the sixth through twelfth months. Upon request, and in accordance with AS 23.30.095(c), the board will, in its discretion, approve payment for more frequent treatments.

The Alaska Supreme Court has held that "the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers’ compensation statute". Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996) (quoting Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 665 (Alaska 1991). By providing that employers are responsible for supplying medical care and those services "which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires," the Workers' Compensation Act further indicates that the Board's proper function includes determining whether the care paid for by employers under the statute is reasonable and necessary. Bockness v. Brown Jug, Inc., 980 P.2d 462 (Alaska 1999).

The Supreme Court also stated in Weidner v. Hibdon, 989 P.2d 727 (Alaska 1999), concerning medical treatment provided within two years of the date of injury, and thereafter:


       Under Alaska's Workers' Compensation Act, an employer shall furnish an employee injured at work any medical treatment "which the nature of the injury or process of recovery requires" within the first two years of the injury. The medical treatment must be reasonable and necessitated by the work-related injury. Thus, when the Board reviews an injured employee's claim for medical treatment made within two years of an injury that is undisputably work-related, its review is limited to whether the treatment sought is reasonable and necessary. 

          On the other hand, when the Board reviews a claim for continued treatment beyond two years from the date of injury, it has discretion to authorize "indicated" medical treatment "as the process of recovery may require." Given this discretion, the Board is not limited to reviewing the reasonableness and necessity of the particular treatment sought, but has some latitude to choose among reasonable alternatives.  (Footnotes omitted.)

            Though she is medically stable, Employee testified she continues to have constant pain and problems with her right ankle, right knee, neck, lower back and right hip. She continues to seek the diagnostic testing Dr. Keller had requested for these complaints. Specifically, she requests payment of MRI and CAT Scan tests and nerve conduction studies.  Based on Dr. Smith’s opinion that no additional tests are needed, however, we find no additional testing is required. Based on our findings concerning compensability, we conclude Employer shall pay medical expenses for the work related ankle, knee and upper back conditions.

V. Compensation Rate Adjustment
Although Employee’s first injury occurred on November 16, 1995, Employee continued working and training until her surgery on July 21,1997 and returned for further training in December of 1997. During this time Employee received several pay increases. On November 16, 1995 her pay was $9.00 an hour. On February 12, 1996 her pay was increased to $12.50 per hour. On April 22, 1996 her pay was increased to $13.00 per hour. On February 10, 1997, her pay was increased to $13.50 per hour. Moreover, as an Itinerant Health Aide, her pay was $17.00 dollars per hour. 
Employee was paid compensation in the weekly amount of $137.51 based upon gross weekly earnings of $157.59. She seeks an increase to reflect her potential for a wage increase during the period of disability. AS 23.30.220(8) states:

If an employee is a minor, an apprentice or in formal training program, as determined by the board, whose wages under normal conditions would increase during the period disability, the projected increase may be considered by the board in computing the gross weekly earnings of the employee.

Employee testified she was in training to become a certified Health Aide Practitioner. During the course of her training Employee received regular pay increases. She claims her pay stubs demonstrate that at $17.00 per hour, her weekly spendable income would be $517.41. Thus, she said, her weekly compensation rate should be $414.25.

At hearing, however, Employee was unable to produced all of her income tax W-2 forms, so we determined to hold the record open for their production.  These were later supplied to the Board and the insurer.  The parties have recently undertaken to privately resolve privately this issue, so we closed the record on all other issues and issue the instant decision. In the event the parties are not able to privately resolve this issue, we reserve jurisdiction to resolve disputes.

VI. Penalties
Employee claims Employer should be penalized 25% for the TTD paid for the period of September 28, 1997 to December 16, 1997, which was not paid until March 25, 1999. Employee was not deemed medically stable concerning her ankle condition until December 16, 1997. 

AS 23.30.115(a) states:

Compensation under this chapter shall be paid periodically, promptly, and directly to the person entitled to it, without an award, except where liability to pay compensation is controverted by the employer.

AS 23.30.155(c) states in part::

(a) Compensation under this chapter shall be paid periodically, promptly, and directly to the person entitled to it, without an award, except where liability to pay compensation is controverted by the employer.  . . .

(c) If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of it. This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under (d) of this section or unless the nonpayment is excused by the board after a showing by the employer that owing to the conditions over which the employer had no control the installment could not be paid within the period prescribed for the payment.




        Employer’s justification for the late payment was based on Employee’s failure to attend medical appointments. However, Employer’s controversion was not filed until March 13, 1998. Additionally, we accept Employee’s testimony that she was unable to attend appoints due to cancelled air travel. Therefore, we find all TTD due prior to December 19, 1997 should have been timely paid. Because payments were not made within seven days of becoming due, we find it shall be increased by 25% and Employee should receive an additional $391.24. 


          In addition, on April 10, 1998, the insurer controverted Employee’s PPI claim. It asserted that the 9% rating by Dr. Keller was incorrect and that they were relying on the 3% rating of Dr. Stanford.  Thus, we find there was no dispute that Employee was entitled to a PPI award of at least 3% of $135,000, or $4050.00. 

            According to the record Employee was paid $2699.58 in PPI between January 20, 1998 and June 6, 1998. However, Employee did not receive an additional $1350.42 until March 25, 1999. Accordingly, we find Employee shall be paid an additional 25%, which is $337.61.

VII. Costs and Fees

8 AAC 45.084. requires payment of medical travel expenses as follows:

(a) This section applies to expenses to be paid by the employer to an employee who is receiving or has received medical treatment. 

(b) Transportation expenses include 

     (1) a mileage rate, for the use of a private automobile, equal to the rate the state reimburses its supervisory employees for travel on the given date if the usage is reasonably related to the medical examination or treatment; 

     (2) the actual fare for public transportation if reasonably incident to the medical examination or treatment; and 

     (3) ambulance service or other special means of transportation if substantiated by competent medical evidence or by agreement of the parties. 

(c) It is the responsibility of the employee to use the most reasonable and efficient means of transportation under the circumstances. If the employer demonstrates at a hearing that the employee failed to use the most reasonable and efficient means of transportation under the circumstances, the board may direct the employer to pay the more reasonable rate rather than the actual rate. 

(d) Transportation expenses, in the form of reimbursement for mileage, which are incurred in the course of treatment or examination are payable when 100 miles or more have accumulated, or upon completion of medical care, whichever occurs first. 

(e) A reasonable amount for meals and lodging purchased when obtaining necessary medical treatment must be paid by the employer if substantiated by receipts submitted by the employee. Reimbursable expenses may not exceed the per diem amount paid by the state to its supervisory employees while traveling. 

8 AAC 45.180. provides for payment of litigation costs and attorney's fees, in part, as follows:

(f) The board will award an applicant the necessary and reasonable costs relating to the preparation and presentation of the issues upon which the applicant prevailed at the hearing on the claim. The applicant must file a statement listing each cost claimed, and must file an affidavit stating that the costs are correct and that the costs were incurred in connection with the claim. The following costs will, in the board's discretion, be awarded to an applicant: 

     (1) costs incurred in making a witness available for cross-examination; 

     (2) court reporter fees and costs of obtaining deposition transcripts; 

     (3) costs of obtaining medical reports; 

     (4) costs of taking the deposition of a medical expert, provided all parties to the deposition have the opportunity to obtain and review the medical records before scheduling the deposition; 

     (5) travel costs incurred by an employee in attending a deposition prompted by a Smallwood objection; 

     (6) costs for telephonic participation in a hearing; 

     (7) costs incurred in securing the services and testimony, if necessary, of vocational rehabilitation experts; 

     (8) costs incurred in obtaining the in-person testimony of physicians at a scheduled hearing; 

     (9) expert witness fees, if the board finds the expert's testimony to be relevant to the claim; 

     (10) long-distance telephone calls, if the board finds the call to be relevant to the claim; 

     (11) the costs of a licensed investigator, if the board finds the investigator's services to be relevant and necessary; 

     (12) reasonable costs incurred in serving subpoenas issued by the board, if the board finds the subpoenas to be necessary; 

     (13) reasonable travel costs incurred by an applicant to attend a hearing, if the board finds that the applicant's attendance is necessary; 

     (14) fees for the services of a paralegal or law clerk, but only if the paralegal or law clerk 

          (A) is employed by an attorney licensed in this or another state; 

          (B) performed the work under the supervision of a licensed attorney; 

          (C) performed work that is not clerical in nature; 

          (D) files an affidavit itemizing the services performed and the time spent in performing each service; and 

          (E) does not duplicate work for which an attorney's fee was awarded; 

     (15) duplication fees at 10 cents per page, unless justification warranting awarding a higher fee is presented; 

     (16) government sales taxes on legal services; 

     (17) other costs as determined by the board. 

            Based on our finding of compensaability of the upper back, ankle and knee conditions, we find the employer shall pay all reasonable medical travel costs related to these conditions. Employee shall supply documentation of these associated costs. We reserve jurisdiction in the event the parties cannot privately resolve disputes. 

Employee testified she has accumulated over $200.00 in telephone calls, $60.00 in postage and at least $30.00 for copies of documents in preparing her case. Employee also paid attorney John Kim $300.00 when Employee hired him as an attorney to represent her in these proceedings. Although he later withdrew as her legal counsel, the record reflects that his assistance was beneficial in the presentation of her case.  Based on our review of the record, we find Employee was partially successful in presenting her claim and we find these expenses shall be paid, upon presentation of documentation. Employee shall present Employer with proof of expenses and the costs shall be paid. We reserve jurisdiction to resolve disputes.

Employee also traveled to Fairbanks on four occasions for three hearings and on two additional occasions when attempting to hire an attorney. Employee requests reimbursement of expenses for these trips. Based on our review of the regulations, as applied to the facts of this case, we find Employer shall pay travel expenses for three trips to Fairbanks for each of the three hearings.  We reserve jurisdiction to resolve computation disputes. 

VIII.
INTEREST

Our regulation at 8 AAC 45.142 requires the payment of interest at a statutory rate, as provided at AS 45.45.010, from the date at which each installment of compensation is due.  See also, Land & Marine Rental Co. v. Rawls, 686 P.2d 1187 (Alaska 1984); Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc., 831 P.2d 352 (Alaska 1994); Childs v. Copper Valley Electrical Association 860 P.2d 1184, 1191 (Alaska 1993).  Employee is entitled to interest from the employer on all benefits ordered in this decision. 



ORDER

            Employer shall pay Employee’s claims for PPI, medical expenses, penalties, interest and costs in accord with this decision. Employee’s claim for TTD benefits is denied and dismissed.


Dated at Fairbanks, Alaska this __9th ___ day of October, 2001.
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APPEAL PROCEDURES


This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in Superior Court within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.

RECONSIDERATION


A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050. 

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of CATHY M. ZEITLER FUNA employee / applicant; v. TANANA CHIEFS CONFERENCE, INC, employer; ALASKA NATIONAL INS. CO. – A, insurer / defendants; Case Nos. 199729612, 199526606; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Fairbanks, Alaska, this _9th ___ day of October, 2001.
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Lora J. Eddy, Clerk
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